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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to today's City Council Finance Committee

          4  hearing. Today the Committee will consider Expense

          5  and Revenue modifications to the current Fiscal 2007

          6  City budget. These modifications implement changes

          7  to the City's Expense Budget, which reflects actions

          8  in the January Plan, and would seek to increase

          9  revenues to reflect actions in the January

         10  financial.

         11                 The Expense Modification, MN 4, would

         12  include a transfer of the general reserve of 92.7

         13  million of various agencies, 71 million for

         14  additional collective bargaining costs, of which 39

         15  million represent UFT contract costs, 92 million in

         16  ACS for costs related to child abuse and foster

         17  care, and 15 million to begin implementation of the

         18  Mayor's Poverty Commission recommendations.

         19                 While the net affect of these changes

         20  are zero, this modification accounts for 5.8 million

         21  in new needs.

         22                 In addition to the Expense

         23  Modifications, we will also be voting on a revenue

         24  modification. Revenue Modification MN 5 represents

         25  an addition 1.82 billion in Fiscal 2007. The
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          2  increased revenues result from forecasted increases

          3  in tax revenues of 1.25 billion, miscellaneous

          4  revenues of 168.4 million, a savings in prior

          5  payables of $40 million.

          6                 The bulk of the revenue 1.1 billion

          7  will be appropriated to our budget stabilization

          8  account. 224.8 million in prepayments will be

          9  provided to the library system, 91 million to the

         10  Health and Hospitals Corporation, 207.8 million for

         11  Transit subsidy payments, 226.5 million to the

         12  Department of Social Services, and 100 million for

         13  lease debt payments and decreases the general

         14  revenue and miscellaneous budget by 171.9 million.

         15                 Next we will consider a Land Use Item

         16  that will provide a property tax exemption for

         17  rental housing in Brooklyn. The Mofat Garden Senior

         18  Residence located in Council Member Erik Martin

         19  Dilan's district, will be a newly constructed

         20  six-story elevator building that will provide 71

         21  units of rental housing for elderly persons of low

         22  income.

         23                 In order to keep the project

         24  financially viable and provide affordable housing to

         25  low-income seniors, HPD is requesting a tax
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          2  exemption. It is my understanding that Council

          3  Member Dilan supports this project.

          4                 Stewart Klein, the First Deputy

          5  Budget Director, is here to explain the two

          6  modifications in greater detail, and members of our

          7  Finance Division staff are also here to answer any

          8  questions you may have regarding the two budget

          9  modifications or the Land Use item.

         10                 I'm going to just introduce my

         11  colleagues that are here. We have Council Member

         12  Helen Sears from Queens, Council Member Peter

         13  Vallone, Jr., from Queens, Council Member Vincent

         14  Gentile from Brooklyn, Council Member Oliver Koppell

         15  from the Bronx, Council Member Gale Brewer from

         16  Manhattan, Council Member Eric Gioia from Queens,

         17  Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens, Council

         18  Member David Yassky from Brooklyn, Tenetia Turnbull,

         19  our Deputy Counsel to the Committee, Council Member

         20  Lew Fidler from Brooklyn, Council Member Dennis

         21  Gallagher from Queens. And I think we may have a

         22  quorum.

         23                 Mr. Klein, would you like to step

         24  forward?

         25                 Do you have any comments, overall
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          2  general comments on the proposed budget

          3  modification?

          4                 MR. KLEIN: No, I think you summarized

          5  it fairly well. I'll be available to answer any

          6  questions you or any of the members of the Committee

          7  might have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do any members of

          9  the Committee have any questions for Deputy Budget

         10  Director Klein? Oh, yes, we do. We have Council

         11  Member Gale Brewer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         13  much. Just my ignorance, but the amount that the

         14  Chairman answered, I think it was 1.8, in terms of

         15  additional revenue. I don't know if that was the

         16  right --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: 1.82 billion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Is that in

         19  addition to the revenue that we've already

         20  understood to be available? I mean, what's the total

         21  then for this year?

         22                 MR. KLEIN: The 1.82 billion

         23  represents changes between the November Plan and the

         24  January Plan. The 1.8 was the amount that when Mark

         25  Page came and testified before you in February, he
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          2  went through. So, that's what that change is. This

          3  is not a new amount.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          5                 MR. KLEIN: This is the amount that

          6  Mark testified at the hearings.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

          8  you.

          9                 The second issue is, are there any

         10  other sort of good news items in here that you find

         11  are relevant to what the public should know? In

         12  other words that's good news. 1.82 is certainly good

         13  news.

         14                 MR. KLEIN: Yes. I think the only

         15  other item that's come up since the hearings was a

         16  transfer to HHC for Medicare expenses, which is

         17  included in this mod.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And how much

         19  is that?

         20                 MR. KLEIN: Two-hundred and twenty-six

         21  million.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. And

         23  that exists because what?

         24                 MR. KLEIN: That actually is a match

         25  with the federal government for providing HHC with
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          2  more Medicaid revenue to support their operations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's good

          4  news. Okay.

          5                 And thank you very much.

          6                 MR. KLEIN: You're welcome.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've also been

          8  joined by Council Member DeBlasio from Brooklyn. The

          9  next questioner is Council Member Koppell. And we've

         10  been joined by Council Member Mike McMahon from

         11  Staten Island.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Because of

         13  our interest in compliance with the new voting

         14  machine requirements, I was interested in the

         15  transfer out and into the Board of Elections; could

         16  you explain that?

         17                 MR. KLEIN: Let me, after the meeting

         18  I'll get back to you with the details on it. I'm not

         19  familiar with it off the top of my head.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But do you

         21  know whether the Board of Elections has sufficient

         22  monies now to do whatever is necessary, if the State

         23  does what they have to do to get the new voting

         24  machines in place?

         25                 MR. KLEIN: I believe so, but I'll
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          2  verify that for you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. The

          4  second thing, I was curious, in the Department of

          5  Health and Mental Health, there is an item of an

          6  addition of $3 million for something called "disease

          7  intervention," do you know what that is?

          8                 MR. KLEIN: No.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No. So, if

         10  you could --

         11                 MR. KLEIN: Sure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I mean, I

         13  haven't obviously had a chance to look at this in

         14  detail, but those two items kind of jumped out at

         15  me, and I would appreciate either you or perhaps our

         16  staff explaining to me after the meeting what those

         17  represent.

         18                 MR. KLEIN: I'll get back to you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         20  Council member.

         21                 Council Member Fidler.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Maybe before

         23  -- one last thing, Mr. Chairman?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Go ahead.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You answered
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          2  my colleague, Council Member Brewer, that the 1.8

          3  billion was not new. As we sit here today, what is

          4  the estimate of the surplus that we'll have over the

          5  projected revenues that were projected the beginning

          6  of the fiscal year when we had a balanced budget?

          7                 MR. KLEIN: Well, the January Plan had

          8  a surplus of $3.9 billion. When the Mayor releases

          9  the budget on Thursday, we'll be updating that

         10  estimate.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see. So,

         12  you're not at this point willing to give us a

         13  preview, I take it?

         14                 MR. KLEIN: No.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         16  Council member.

         17                 Council Member Fidler.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 Good morning, Mr. Klein. I just want

         21  to call your attention to the section on District

         22  Attorneys. We're still doing that silly and probably

         23  unconstitutional thing by which we make district

         24  attorneys selectively prosecute people so that they

         25  can collect revenue and add money to their budget,
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          2  right?

          3                 MR. KLEIN: The budget is as it was

          4  reflected in January.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So the answer

          6  to that is yes, they're still part of the District

          7  Attorney funding plan; is that correct?

          8                 MR. KLEIN: The funding plan was let

          9  out in January, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, yes. The

         11  answer is yes.

         12                 MR. KLEIN: I don't know that I'm

         13  agreeing with your supposition, but --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I didn't think

         15  you would be, but does this mod reflect the movement

         16  of any money to district attorneys for having met

         17  their targets under that plan?

         18                 MR. KLEIN: I don't believe so, but

         19  I'll have to check.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And do you

         21  have any idea whether district attorneys have

         22  received any money under that plan, other than the

         23  money that you front-loaded on the presumption that

         24  they would make their targets.

         25                 MR. KLEIN: I don't know that they've
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          2  exceeded that amount.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And are you

          4  anticipating another budget modification before

          5  June?

          6                 MR. KLEIN: I assume we'll do another

          7  one at the latest with adoption for the current

          8  fiscal year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I have taken a

         10  look here and it doesn't seem to reflect any money

         11  from the district attorney prosecution incentive

         12  plan. It doesn't seem to be part of this budget mod,

         13  and I don't recall it being part of the last budget

         14  mod. So, I guess the earliest District Attorneys

         15  could expect to use any money from that plan this

         16  year, other than the front-loaded money, would be at

         17  the end of the fiscal year in June; would that be

         18  correct?

         19                 MR. KLEIN: I think that we'd be open

         20  to having some discussions with them, if something

         21  materialized before then.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But if the

         23  money is not modded here, then you're not getting

         24  it.

         25                 MR. KLEIN: There's a lot of
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          2  expenditures that happen and accrue post June so

          3  that wouldn't eliminate --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So there are

          5  expenditures and monies that are getting moved into

          6  District Attorneys' budgets without the need to come

          7  to the Council for a modification?

          8                 MR. KLEIN: No, but they could

          9  certainly plan for spending the money either late

         10  this year or early next year.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But if they

         12  get the money in June for this fiscal year --

         13                 MR. KLEIN: It would obviously be

         14  difficult. We should assess the situation, if the

         15  money exists, talk about how to move forward.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I think it

         17  would obviously be difficult would be the answer

         18  that I was going for and the point I was trying to

         19  make. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         21  Council Member. Council Member Yassky.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry to

         23  get back to the basics. I just want to get the

         24  basics of what we're doing. You're recognizing an

         25  additional $1.8 billion in revenue, and that is
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          2  going into the --

          3                 MR. KLEIN: The health stabilization

          4  account.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Not the health

          6  -- I'm sorry, I heard you but I'm not sure

          7  everybody else could.

          8                 MR. KLEIN: The additional

          9  contribution to the Health Trust Fund is for Fiscal

         10  Year '08. What you're considering today before you

         11  is a modification to the Fiscal Year '07 budget.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I see. Okay.

         13                 MR. KLEIN: There is no additional

         14  contribution to the Health Trust Fund in this

         15  modification.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And what we've

         17  done to date, is one or two billion into that?

         18                 MR. KLEIN: We've done 2 billion. It

         19  was 1 billion that was done in Fiscal '06, another

         20  one done in Fiscal '07.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: One billion in

         22  this year's --

         23                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: In the '07

         25  budget.
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          2                 MR. KLEIN: And that was part of the

          3  adopted budget.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Right. And

          5  that hasn't been added to since, right?

          6                 MR. KLEIN: No.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You know, I

          8  don't want to take the Committee's time, but I would

          9  ask, if you would, and I would suspect that you're

         10  really the best person to do this, whether me and

         11  the other Finance Committee members who were Council

         12  Members are interested in -- I asked the question of

         13  Director Page in a previous hearing about why that's

         14  a better use of money than simply paying off debt.

         15  And it was a complicated answer that I didn't have

         16  sufficient background to understand it at that time;

         17  would you be willing to really in the next couple of

         18  weeks make time to answer that question more fully?

         19                 MR. KLEIN: Sure. We'll discuss the

         20  ins and outs of the health care transaction with

         21  you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. I'll

         23  call your office and get a time for that. And Mr.

         24  Chair, I'll let you know so that anybody else who

         25  wants to participate in it.
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          2                 Just so I understand, as of the last

          3  mod there is $3.9 billion surplus for this year?

          4                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And this

          6  doesn't change the amount of the surplus because

          7  even though there is 1.8 billion more in revenue

          8  than was reflected in the January mod, that's

          9  immediately going into the roll-over account?

         10                 MR. KLEIN: No. What happened was when

         11  the Mayor presented the January Financial Plan,

         12  there was a surplus of $3.8 billion, I'm sorry $3.9

         13  billion. What this mod is doing is actually putting

         14  the additional 1.8 billion in revenue that brought

         15  us up to that 3.9 surplus into the budget.

         16                 The Mayor presented his plan --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Oh, I see.

         18                 MR. KLEIN: Now the budget is catching

         19  up with the plan.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, the

         21  January Plan that had that $3.9 billion in it, when

         22  we did the mod, I thought we had done the mod that

         23  was associated with that January Plan, but I guess

         24  it didn't incorporate that, is what you're --

         25                 MR. KLEIN: The mod that you did was
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          2  associated with the November Plan, not the January

          3  Plan.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Even though it

          5  was done a couple of weeks ago. But okay.

          6                 MR. KLEIN: Yes. Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: No, I get it

          8  now. Okay. And this is associated with the January

          9  Plan.

         10                 MR. KLEIN: This reflects the January

         11  Plan, plus the additional transfer to HHC.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, I

         13  understand. Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         15  Council member.

         16                 We've also been joined by two more

         17  colleagues. We have Councilman Jim Gennaro from

         18  Queens, and Council Member Diana Reyna from

         19  Brooklyn, and Queens.

         20                 The next questioner is Council Member

         21  Gentile.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: No.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, Council

         24  Member McMahon.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman. Just briefly, and in furtherance of

          3  what Council Member Yassky was asking; can you just

          4  give me sort of an overview of the total amount of

          5  the budget surplus in Fiscal Year '07?

          6                 MR. KLEIN: It's $3.9 billion.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But didn't we

          8  already put some surplus money into the health

          9  account?

         10                 MR. KLEIN: The money that was shown

         11  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: In other

         13  words, let me put it this way: We passed the budget

         14  last June for '07.

         15                 MR. KLEIN: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And since

         17  that time, what's the overall amount of surplus --

         18                 MR. KLEIN: 3.9 billion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And that

         20  includes the billion that already went into the

         21  health account?

         22                 MR. KLEIN: The billion that went in

         23  for Fiscal Year '07 was part of the adopted budget

         24  in June. So, if you're --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So that was
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          2  money that we recognized?

          3                 MR. KLEIN: The surplus is money

          4  that's been recognized since you adopted the budget

          5  in June.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But we

          7  pre-recognized the billion then and spent it, and

          8  now we're post recognizing.

          9                 In other words, the question I want

         10  to know, I know where it's going, some is going in

         11  the health account, some is going in the

         12  stabilization account, some is going to help some

         13  agencies, the '07 budget, the overall surplus for

         14  Fiscal Year '07 is how much?

         15                 MR. KLEIN: $3.9 billion.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: What about

         17  the 1 billion that went into the health account?

         18                 MR. KLEIN: That was part of the

         19  budget you adopted.

         20                 If you define the surplus, it's the

         21  excess of revenues over expenses since the time you

         22  adopted the budget.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, just

         24  humor me for a minute. Irrespective of when it was

         25  spent, or allocated or saved or addressed, what is
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          2  the actual surplus, not whether it was preallocated

          3  or post allocated, but you have a budget from July

          4  '01 to June 30th. Okay, that's the Fiscal Year '07.

          5  And when the Mayor does his budget, he always shows

          6  his expenses and then how much money is actually

          7  there to meet it. For running the Year '07, what's

          8  the total amount of the surplus? Don't say 3.9

          9  because it's not right.

         10                 MR. KLEIN: It is right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Then you're

         12  not fairly answering my question.

         13                 If I'm asking it improperly, let me

         14  know, but you know what I'm trying to ask.

         15                 MR. KLEIN: I'm not certain what

         16  you're trying to get at, because the billion dollars

         17  which was allocated in last year's adopted budget is

         18  an expense that was made in Fiscal Year '06.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: For money

         20  that was collected during '07.

         21                 So, let me put it to you this way, of

         22  all of the revenue that came into the City's pot in

         23  '07, how much more is that than the '07 expenses?

         24  I'm going to keep you all morning, you know what I'm

         25  trying to ask.
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          2                 MR. KLEIN: I guess the question is

          3  why is the billion dollars different than any other

          4  expense that's been allocated in the budget?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: What?

          6                 MR. KLEIN: Why is the billion dollars

          7  for the Health Trust Fund different than any other

          8  allocated expense. It's an expense that was

          9  allocated. It's part of the adopted budget.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Correct. But

         11  in essence, isn't it correct that we really have a

         12  surplus for '07 of $5 billion, which is the 3.9 plus

         13  the billion that was already pre-spent.

         14                 MR. KLEIN: Well, you could make that

         15  statement if I added back any other expense.

         16                 It wasn't pre-spent. We actually

         17  haven't written a check yet to that Trust Fund.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, is it

         19  fair to say that the surplus for '07 is really $5

         20  billion.

         21                 MR. KLEIN: I don't believe so. I

         22  believe it's fair to say the surplus is 3.9 billion.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Let me ask

         24  you this: The billion that was put in the Health

         25  Care Trust Fund in June of last year was actually
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          2  from revenue that was received in Fiscal Year '07?

          3                 MR. KLEIN: '06. We're in Fiscal Year

          4  '07.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay.

          6                 MR. KLEIN: There was a contribution

          7  made in Fiscal Year '06 for a billion and there's

          8  one budgeted this year for a billion.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: All right.

         10  Again, you know the question I'm trying to ask, and

         11  I think timing is not the issue, but the overall, I

         12  would like to know the true number of the budget

         13  surplus for '07, and I don't think we're getting

         14  that. I think by pre-spending money we are

         15  depressing that number, and I thought that the

         16  Administration was very much about transparency and

         17  budget, and I don't get the sense that we're doing

         18  that right now.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         21  Council Member. Any other questions? Just to

         22  clarify, Council Member McMahon, once we made the

         23  decision to allocate the billion dollars into the

         24  trust fund, that was, you know, a decision made by

         25  the Council, which was an allocation of a billion

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  dollars, similar to any other of the $56 billion

          3  allocations. Had we not made that expense

          4  allocation, then we would have another billion

          5  dollars in surplus, but we did make it so we don't

          6  have that extra billion dollars as a surplus.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I understand

          8  that. And I don't regret the decision, but I still

          9  don't think we're giving a fair and accurate

         10  statement as to what the surplus is of operating the

         11  City of New York's government for Fiscal Year '07 by

         12  doing that, and I think that we should just have the

         13  numbers out there. I don't criticize that move to

         14  put the money in the trust account. I voted for it.

         15  And I'm not saying that we shouldn't do prudent

         16  things with it, but I think we should be able to

         17  know exactly what the number is, that's all.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, I hear you.

         19  There's no question that we had a lot of money and

         20  we made a lot of decisions and one of those

         21  decisions was to allocate a billion dollars to put

         22  into the Health Care Trust Fund, which was an

         23  expense done, which would make a statement correct,

         24  about the surplus being 3.9 billion, because that

         25  billion was decided to be spent as an expense.
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          2                 Council Member Yassky.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I just want to

          4  follow-up on Council Member McMahon, because I think

          5  his question, what is the, you know, excess in

          6  revenue attributable to Fiscal 2007 over expenses

          7  attributable to 2007. That's his question about the

          8  surplus, and I think he's absolutely correct that

          9  that really is $5 billion, because the health

         10  benefits trust fund, and forgive me, I never get the

         11  name of it right, but that health benefits trust

         12  fund is not spending on 2007 expenses. I think

         13  that's the way it's been discussed from its

         14  inception. That is, that's much like the budget

         15  stabilization account, money set aside to pay future

         16  expenses, not discussing the wisdom of it, but

         17  that's what it is. So, if you ask how much came in

         18  this year to the City, versus how much was spent on

         19  this year's expenses, it really is a $5 billion

         20  surplus.

         21                 MR. KLEIN: If I can just make one

         22  last point on this. One, in terms of transparency,

         23  we've been very clear about laying out how much

         24  we're budgeted for in terms of this billion dollars.

         25  You can choose to characterize it as part of the
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          2  surplus or not part of the surplus. But I think in

          3  terms of being transparent about the use of the

          4  money, we've been very clear, we've highlighted a

          5  number of charts, it's budgeted separately, and a

          6  separate unit of appropriation. We've been very

          7  upfront about how much is going in there.

          8                 This surplus, which is usually

          9  defined as the excess of budgeted revenues over

         10  budgeted expenses comes back to the number I've been

         11  talking about. Because this is a budgeted expense

         12  for Fiscal Year 2007.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I don't want

         14  to belabor the point, but I agree that you've been

         15  transparent saying that's what that is, except

         16  transparent up to the point where we say it's a $4

         17  billion surplus rather than 5, because we, I think

         18  for any ordinary person, understands the word

         19  "surplus" to mean excess of revenue over

         20  expenditures, and a deposit into my savings -- if I

         21  were fortunate enough to have an excess in revenue

         22  over my expenses for this year, you know, rent and

         23  credit card bills, and I wrote a check to a money

         24  market account for savings, you wouldn't say, well,

         25  now I have no surplus income for the year. You would
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          2  say I spent this much and I saved X dollars, we had

          3  $5 billion in excess revenue over expenses, and the

          4  question what to do with it, that's a separate

          5  question. But just on that fact, I think Council

          6  Member McMahon was right on point in assisting on

          7  that transparency.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Klein, did

          9  you want to respond to that?

         10                 MR. KLEIN: Just one last point on

         11  this. The difference between this and our normal

         12  prepayment, when we prepay debt service, we put

         13  money in the debt service fund, it reduces next

         14  year's expenditure for debt service, and frees up

         15  that amount of money to be used on other things

         16  within the budget in the next year. For this, we're

         17  taking money and putting it in a trust account. It's

         18  not freeing up any immediate money, it's saving us

         19  money in the long term, when we need to pay these

         20  bills, but we cannot use this money for anything

         21  other than retiree health care costs.

         22                 So, it's like a fundamental

         23  difference there between --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But it goes

         25  to the wisdom of doing it, and we voted for it, we
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          2  don't disapprove it. But when we talk about a budget

          3  and we decide what type of decisions we make as a

          4  City, whether it's wise to do that, or whether it's

          5  wiser to reduce the taxes that had to be raised when

          6  we had a $7 billion deficit over 18 months, we have

          7  to have a fair and accurate discussion as to what

          8  the numbers are, and then we, as leaders of the

          9  City, can openly and publicly identify priorities

         10  and act accordingly. If we don't know the exact

         11  number of the surplus for the year, it's hard to

         12  make that decision. And even if we prepay something

         13  before the fiscal year begins, it's still the engine

         14  of 2007 that created a $5 billion surplus, even

         15  though a billion was pre-saved, if you will, last

         16  June, and I think that's the discussion that I would

         17  like to have here and not saying that the surplus is

         18  3.9 billion, because we already pre-saved a billion.

         19  And I'm not saying we shouldn't have pre-saved the

         20  billion, but at some point, because you will then

         21  put up numbers next budget season and say, okay,

         22  going into '08, '09, '10 and '11 we have a projected

         23  deficit of $3.4 billion, well, those are the types

         24  of numbers that we use to plan the decisions that we

         25  make now, and if those numbers aren't accurate, as
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          2  is this number, then we don't know what decision to

          3  make. And I really believe that by putting that

          4  money aside, that's fine that we put that money

          5  aside, but the discussion should be a $5 billion

          6  surplus and not a $3.9 billion surplus.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Did you want to

          8  respond?

          9                 MR. KLEIN: I think we're repeating --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I think the point

         11  on both sides was made very eloquently, and I think

         12  we should move on.

         13                 We've been joined by Council Member

         14  Robert Jackson from Manhattan, and Council Member

         15  Gentile has a question.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you.

         17  Mr. Klein, you had made a statement earlier that the

         18  check has not yet been written for the Health

         19  Benefits Trust Fund.

         20                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So, I have

         22  actually two questions. How much money is in the

         23  fund today?

         24                 MR. KLEIN: I don't know the exact

         25  balance. I'm guessing --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Ball park.

          3                 MR. KLEIN: I think around six-

          4  seven-hundred million dollars.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So, you're

          6  using that 2 billion to pay the retiree benefits.

          7                 MR. KLEIN: We'll be paying in that

          8  billion, plus -- before the end of the year, we're

          9  going to make a payment of approximately $2.4

         10  billion. One billion for the payment into the trust

         11  fund, and another billion point four for amounts

         12  budgeted for what's known as pay-go (phonetic). The

         13  current year expenses for retiree health care run

         14  through that fund, so we'll be reimbursing the fund

         15  for those current expenses.

         16                 On June 30th of this year, the fund

         17  will have a balance of $2.4 billion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So, the 1.4

         19  billion that represents the cost of this year's

         20  health benefits expense has yet to be put into the

         21  fund. And that 1.4 billion was adopted with the FY

         22  '07 budget, and yet has not been put into the fund.

         23                 MR. KLEIN: Right. I mean, the budget

         24  is an annual expenditure and we've shown it in our

         25  expenditure plan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So that will

          3  be put into the fund before the new fiscal -- before

          4  the new fiscal year.

          5                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And that will

          7  account for the expenditure you made this year of

          8  $1.4 billion in expense.

          9                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So that's a

         11  reimbursement for the exact amount you paid out this

         12  year in retiree health benefits.

         13                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I see. Okay,

         15  that will do it. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         17  Councilman Gentile.

         18                 Any further questions? Seeing none,

         19  I'm going to call for a vote on the two budget

         20  modifications, the Expense and Revenue.

         21                 Oh, we also have a Land Use item in

         22  Council Member Dilan's district. Does anybody have

         23  any questions on the Land Use item?

         24                 Let's have a vote for the budget

         25  modification, then we'll have a vote on the Land Use
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          2  item.

          3                 We coupled the two budget

          4  modifications. Call the roll.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Weprin.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye on both.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm just going

          9  to get some clarification here before I vote, so I'm

         10  going to pass.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I vote aye,

         13  although I do think that more clarification, even

         14  though the staff has done a wonderful, wonderful

         15  job, it would be helpful for all of us, and I think

         16  we should take it upon ourselves also, to inform

         17  ourselves to even make the budget more transparent.

         18  But I vote aye. Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Chairman, may

         25  I be briefly excused to explain my vote?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you.

          4                 First, I want to say, I want to

          5  commend the fact that the Council actually had this

          6  budget modification for a few days, rather than

          7  being handed it this morning, and moved the billions

          8  of dollars of money around on little information. I

          9  think the process has improved greatly and I want to

         10  commend the Chairman and the Speaker for that, and

         11  the Administration as well, for providing that

         12  cooperation.

         13                 Along the lines of the conversation

         14  that Council Members McMahon, Yassky and Gentile

         15  were having with Mr. Klein, you know, the Health

         16  Trust Fund is a limited rainy day fund, and it's

         17  pretty obvious to everybody that's what it really

         18  is, and, you know, we've approved that and continue

         19  to and I understand the semantic, you know, point,

         20  counterpoint that we just had, but I think the

         21  underlying point that the Council Members were

         22  trying to make, which I agree with entirely, that in

         23  a year when our surplus is either 3.9 or 4.9 billion

         24  dollars, we need to be talking a little bit more

         25  about returning some of that tax money to the
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          2  taxpayer through property tax cuts. And the five

          3  percent cut, which is a rate cut but not a dollar

          4  cut to tax payers in the City of New York, is not

          5  sufficient, as far as most Council Members are

          6  concerned, and I think what Council Member McMahon

          7  is doing is laying the foundation for that argument

          8  as we go into the budget process, and I'm glad that

          9  he did it, and frankly, I think he's just framing

         10  the question a little bit differently than the

         11  Administration is, and maybe the Administration

         12  ought to be listening to that a little bit.

         13                 As to the District Attorney point

         14  that I was beating into the ground with you, Mr.

         15  Klein, I, unfortunately, for health reasons missed

         16  the public safety hearing on it, so I didn't get my

         17  chance to do my annual tarantella (sic). So, my

         18  point is, and I want my colleagues to understand

         19  this as we go into the budget process again, is that

         20  this absurd notion that DAs have to prosecute people

         21  in order to collect money for their budget, some of

         22  which you front load, continues to be a legal

         23  fiction. Because they will never see the money

         24  during this fiscal year, because this is the last

         25  budget mod we're doing before the end of June, and
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          2  DAs can no more plan their budget and plan their

          3  office and hire personnel under that system than

          4  under any other, and we ought to get over it, just

          5  give them the money that they need to properly run

          6  their office, without unconstitutional strings

          7  attached to it.

          8                 And that would be the other point.

          9  And having said all of that, I vote aye on the

         10  budget mods.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Mr. Chairman,

         13  I wish to explain my vote.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Hopefully shorter

         15  than Council Member Fidler.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Sure.

         17  Actually, I just want to support Lew's comments with

         18  regard to the District Attorneys, and with that, I

         19  vote aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chair. I will be brief, because as Council

          5  Member Fidler said, we are trying to lay the

          6  foundation to make the case that with the surplus

          7  and true depiction of that surplus, we certainly

          8  have to have a discussion about true and meaningful

          9  tax cuts, the ones when we had a deficit after 9/11,

         10  we knew exactly how much the deficit was. I think

         11  now in headier (phonetic) times, we should know

         12  exactly how much the surplus is. The problem that I

         13  see is that all the discussions we're having lately

         14  in the City are proving to make the City too

         15  expensive for the middle class, and if we lose the

         16  middle class base in this City, although I know

         17  there are many who think that the heart that pumps

         18  the City is in Manhattan below 86th Street, I think

         19  the heart that pumps the City is the middle class,

         20  and you know, a 40 percent increase in property

         21  taxes over five years and water bills now are 12

         22  percent in furtherance of an increase last year of

         23  nine percent and even new initiatives that we

         24  announced yesterday, I think that we have to start

         25  putting the breaks on and reducing the cost of
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          2  living in this City for the people who live here and

          3  work here and raise their children here and don't

          4  have options to move freely or to have second homes,

          5  these are things that those who have more means at

          6  their disposal are able to do. So, having said that,

          7  and I apologize, Mr. Chairman, if I held the meeting

          8  up at all, I vote aye on this proposal. Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: A moment, Mr.

         13  Chair. I just wanted to say we missed Lew Fidler at

         14  our Public Safety hearing. It's good to hear his

         15  tarantella now though.  I'd like to be his dancing

         16  partner in that tarantella again, as we discussed at

         17  our hearing. I'm glad he brought up the fact that

         18  this is the last mod and the DAs are not seeing

         19  their money, and the inequities which exist in that

         20  system, and which we've been rallying against for

         21  years now. And I also, as usual, second everything

         22  that's been said about returning money to the people

         23  who were forced to suffer after 9/11 with tax

         24  increases, and that temporary war-time tax should be

         25  amended, and that money should be returned to the
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          2  property tax owners. So, I vote aye on this budget

          3  mod.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky.

          5                 (No response.)

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Mr. Chairman,

          8  if I can be excused to explain my vote?

          9                 I also underscored the comments of

         10  Councilman Fidler about the District Attorneys'

         11  offices and Council Member McMahon about the actual

         12  transparency about our surplus. And I think that all

         13  of us here should remember this day of passing this

         14  modification, recognizing the $3.9 billion in

         15  surplus, when we're sitting around our delegation

         16  meetings and being asked if we're asked to cut

         17  certain programs and things that we think are

         18  important. Because if you think about this, passing

         19  these budget modifications are not the normal course

         20  of business. We over the last three years have

         21  recognized more than ten percent of each year's

         22  budget after adoption. That's after adoption we've

         23  realized up to ten percent more in last year's

         24  budget, which says to me that we, as a City Council,

         25  are being taken out of the process by the
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          2  Administration because of the numbers that they are

          3  giving us to use. And when we come back and have to

          4  pass budget modifications, recognizing $3.9 billion

          5  surplus, that tells us that something is wrong with

          6  the forecasting and the transparency of the figures

          7  that we are given to work with when we pass a budget

          8  in June.

          9                 So, I think we should all think about

         10  this day of passing another budget modification,

         11  when we sit around this June and pass the FY '08

         12  budget. With that, I vote yes.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I vote aye,

         15  and I'd just like to welcome my two colleagues,

         16  Council Member Mike McMahon and Council Member Lew

         17  Fidler to the Republican bandwagon for cutting

         18  taxes, and I don't have to welcome Peter Vallone --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: There's no

         20  reason to get personal there, Gallagher.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAHGER:-- I know

         22  he's been there for a long time. So, I vote aye on

         23  all. Thank you. And of course, Vinnie Gentile.

         24  That's what happens when he sits to the right of me.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Mr. Chairman,

          3  I'd like to be excused to explain my vote.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Sure. Go ahead.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Sure. I just

          6  wanted to get clarification and thank God for our

          7  Director, Mike Keogh, whose patience and explicit

          8  transparency in the way he tries to express to us

          9  the logic behind the way the City operates in its

         10  finances. You know, there's merit to the discussion

         11  that has been taking place here and I, too, want to

         12  join our republican friends in just really taking a

         13  close look at how we're claiming there is a budget

         14  surplus and raising taxes and cutting back programs

         15  and reserving funds that we have to wait for, for

         16  there to be an accumulation to then disperse.

         17                 It is concerning and I don't think we

         18  get a clear and transparent picture, as Council

         19  Member McMahon expressed, in order to be

         20  responsible, fiscal directors here. And, so, I vote

         21  aye for the sake of the process to move forward, but

         22  this being the last budget modification, I hope that

         23  we can have more premature conversations as to how

         24  we can internally get a fuller understanding as to

         25  is this the only way to conduct business, when in
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          2  regards to the finances of the City of New York.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gerson.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: How do you vote?

          6  Do you vote aye?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I vote aye.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You vote aye,

          9  okay.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chair, I

         11  vote aye. And I just need to briefly address the

         12  process going forward, as relates to the bandwagon

         13  as to which my colleague and friend, Council Member

         14  Gallagher described, while I'm attempted to jump on

         15  board, because with all those individuals you

         16  mentioned, it sounds like a lot of fun.

         17                 However, I must note, and I agree and

         18  I'm confident most, if not all of us agree, going

         19  forward with the principal that after 9/11, we

         20  certainly do need to return wherewithal to the

         21  people of the City of New York. But the question of

         22  whether or not we make the return through what is

         23  really through a cash outlay or whether we make the

         24  return by assuring the preservation and expansion of

         25  affordable housing, or reduction of class sizes, or
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          2  the reduction of asthma rates, or the improvement in

          3  Sanitation and cleanliness in the City, those are

          4  all ways of returning hard-earned funds to the

          5  people of the City of New York. And we, as a

          6  Council, need to be strategic in figuring out how we

          7  best serve the people and with the goal of returning

          8  to them, we generally return to the people, as I

          9  said, when we accomplish all those goals, which they

         10  so desperately demand. So let's not jump kind of to

         11  the stampede and assume that the maximum tax

         12  reduction is the optimum way of providing and

         13  returning funds to the people of the City of New

         14  York, we need to strengthen the balance between the

         15  two and that is what I hope we, as a Council, will

         16  proceed strategically and deliberately, to do in the

         17  weeks ahead as we put together, Mr. Chair, under

         18  your outstanding leadership, Fiscal Year '08 budget,

         19  and not jump to the conclusion of you know what

         20  sounds good, but let's probe deeper and make sure we

         21  are striking the right balance and making the refund

         22  in the proper way. So we provide optimally for all

         23  of the people of the City.

         24                 As I said earlier, I vote aye.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,
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          2  Council member.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Having

          5  understood all that's gone before, and agreeing with

          6  most of it, fully with Diana Reyna -- how did Diana

          7  Reyna vote? I vote aye on all.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I vote aye,

         10  and if I can just explain my vote? I just want to

         11  add to what Council Member Gentile said about the

         12  effect of routinely understating revenues. And I

         13  understand since my first job at OMB doing tax

         14  forecasting, it's hard to do, I'm not saying it's

         15  easy, but I would say that it's not simply that it

         16  means that large amounts of spending don't go

         17  through the ordinary adoption process, and they now

         18  have to come back here and done through mods, which

         19  do receive I think less vigorous debate, but it

         20  really mitigates against tax relief, because that is

         21  the time of year when the tax rate is set, as you

         22  know, and when we go to Albany looking for tax, if

         23  it's not going to be for not property tax, for

         24  reductions in other taxes, mid-year I don't know, I

         25  mean I'm sure there's historical precedent for doing
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          2  it, but it's much, much less likely to have tax

          3  relief as opposed to spending increases. So, when

          4  revenue is routinely understated and therefore spent

          5  through the budget mod process, rather than through

          6  regular adoption, it pushes towards spending rather

          7  than tax relief. And when we ask constituents whose

          8  tax is up way more than 18 percent, 18 percent plus

          9  all the assessment increases, I think that's a

         10  problem. So, I know that we will be keeping that in

         11  mind as we move speedily toward June. Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 18 in the

         14  affirmative, none in the negative and no

         15  abstentions, the two preconsidered Ms are adopted.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, now we're

         17  going to take another vote on the resolution on the

         18  tax exemption for the Land Use referral; are there

         19  any questions on that item, in Council Member

         20  Dilan's district? And staff tells me Council Member

         21  Dilan supports that.

         22                 Do you want to call the roll.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Pass.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I vote aye. I

          4  wonder if these units are being counted as part of

          5  the Mayor's marketplace when they might be built

          6  anyway, but I vote aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gerson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         22                 (No response.)

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

          4                 (No response.)

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Aye. Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 16 in the

         17  affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         18  abstentions, preconsidered LU is adopted. Members,

         19  please sign all the Committee reports. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm going to keep

         21  the roll open for a short period of time for those

         22  members who are in and around the building. Up to a

         23  half hour.

         24                 Council Member Vallone, how do you

         25  vote on the Land Use referral?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I vote aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

          4  17 on the preconsidered LU.

          5                 (Council Member Oddo subsequently

          6  voted aye. The vote now stands at 18 in the

          7  affirmative, none in the negative, and zero

          8  abstentions.)

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 12:35 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 23rd day of April 2007.
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                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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